I.	IDENTITY OF THE PETITIONER
II.	COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION
III.	ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW1
IV.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
V.	ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED5
_	A. The Court of Appeals' Holding Writes Occupational Disease Out of the Intentional Injury Exception
I	3. This Case Meets the Criteria for Accepting Review12
	C. The Evidence Presented by <i>Kalahar</i> Parallels the Evidence Presented in <i>Birklid</i> 16
VI.	CONCLUSION19

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Washington Cases

American Cont'l Ins. Co. v. Steen, 151 Wn.2d 512, 91 P.3d 864 (2004)8			
Baker v. Schatz, 80 Wn. App. 775, 912 P.2d 501 (1996)9, 15			
Birklid v. Boeing Co., 127 Wn. 2d 853, 904 P.2d 278 (1995)passim			
Dennis v. Dep't of Labor & Indus. of State of Wash., 109 Wn. 2d 467, 472, 745 P.2d 1295, 1298 (1987)			
Folsom v. Burger King, 135 Wn. 2d 658, 958 P.2d 301 (1998)16			
Henson v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 15 Wn. 2d 384, 390, 130 P.2d 885, 888 (1942)7			
Lehtinen v. Weyerhaeuser Co., 63 Wn. 2d 456, 387 P.2d 760 (1963)7			
Lowy v. Peace Health, 174 Wn. 2d 769, 280 P.3d 1078 (2012)8			
State Dep't of Transp. v. James River Ins. Co., 176 Wn.2d 390, 292 P.3d 118 (2013)			
Vallandingham v. Clover Park School District, 154 Wn. 2d 16, 109 P.3d 805 (2005)17			
Walston v. Boeing Co., 181 Wn. 2d 391, 334 P.3d 519 (2014)passim			
Federal Cases			
United States v. Hunter, 193 F.R.D. 62 (N.D.N.Y. 2000)10			
United States v. Rubenstein, 403 F.3d 93 (2nd Cir. 2005)			
United States v. Starnes, 583 F.3d 196 (3rd Cir. 2009)10			

Statutes RCW 51.08.100 4, 6 RCW 51.08.140 4, 7 RCW 51.24.020 passim RCW 51.24.030 5, 6, 8, 11 Appendix Unpublished Decision, Kalahar v. Alcoa, Inc., 72635-8-I, 2015 WL 5012588 (Wn. Ct. App. Aug. 24, 2015) Appendix A RCW 51.24.020 Appendix B RCW 51.24.030 Appendix C RCW 51.08.140 Appendix D Transcript of Recorded Hearing in Kalahar v. Alcoa Inc., Court of Appeals, Division I.

I. IDENTITY OF THE PETITIONER

Peggy L. Kalahar is the surviving spouse of John M. Kalahar and is also the Personal Representative of his Estate.

II. COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION

On August 24, 2015, the Court of Appeals, Division I, issued its unpublished decision affirming the trial court's summary judgment dismissal of the Plaintiffs' intentional injury claim against Alcoa, Inc. based on this Court's recent ruling in *Walston v. Boeing Co.*, 181 Wn. 2d 391, 334 P.3d 519 (2014). *Kalahar v. Alcoa, Inc.*, 72635-8-I, 2015 WL 5012588 (Wn. Ct. App. Aug. 24, 2015).

III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Should this Court review the Court of Appeals' holding that *Walston*v. *Boeing* precludes intentional injury claims under RCW 51.24.020

whenever the claimed injury is a latent occupational disease, irrespective of the employer's culpability in exposing the plaintiff to the toxin that caused his disease?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

John Kalahar was employed at Alcoa's aluminum plant in Wenatchee, Washington from 1963 to 1971. CP 590-91. Throughout this period, Mr. Kalahar was forced to inhale asbestos fibers in the course of his regular job duties. CP 593-94, 611, 624-34, 697-701, 705-07. Mr. Kalahar

was diagnosed with mesothelioma in January of 2014 and died on August 4, 2015, during the pendency of this appeal. There is no dispute that Mr. Kalahar was exposed to asbestos at Alcoa or that this exposure caused his illness and death.

Both the Superior Court and Court of Appeals recognized that Alcoa had actual knowledge that asbestos caused mesothelioma at the time John Kalahar worked at Alcoa's Wenatchee facility. RP 35-36; 2015 WL 5012588 at *1. In granting Alcoa's motion for summary judgment, the Superior Court explicitly found that "at the time he was exposed, that Alcoa knew that more than likely that exposure to asbestos could cause mesothelioma." RP 35. Likewise, in affirming the summary judgment, the Court of Appeals agreed that "Alcoa was aware of the health risks of asbestos exposure and that exposure could result in asbestosis and lung cancer." 2015 WL 5012588 at *1.

More specifically, Alcoa understood the concept of the latency of asbestos-related disease in which symptoms manifest many years after initial exposure. CP 452. The record also suggests that Alcoa knew that "[e]ven intermittent exposures to high concentrations [of asbestos], over long periods of time" were capable of causing disease, but that development of disease varied "according to individual susceptibility." CP 574. Likewise, Plaintiffs presented evidence that Alcoa was aware of the disease

of mesothelioma resulting from "even short and intermittent exposures to asbestos." CP 578-80.

Despite this knowledge, Alcoa affirmatively misrepresented the toxicity of asbestos to Mr. Kalahar and his co-workers. Testifying in this case, Mr. Kalahar described how he and his co-workers complained to Alcoa management regarding the injurious nature of asbestos, but were assured it was safe:

- Q: [W]ere you ever told anything by Alcoa concerning whether or not asbestos was safe to work with and work around?
- A: We [] were told that it was safe.
- Q: Okay. Tell me about that.
- A: There were questions about the materials that we used, and the—the answer was "These are...safe materials."
- Q: And who would tell you that, sir?
- A: It was a company line and—that came down. Also, you know, other employees said, "Oh, we've asked those questions. It's—they've told us it's safe."

CP 636-37. Mr. Kalahar's co-worker John Cox corroborated this testimony as follows:

I had the idea in the back of my mind that asbestos might be—since it was a rock, might be as bad as having black lung from working in a coal mine or something. So I asked the foreman that had worked there for many years the first or second day I worked there, Isn't this hazardous to your health breathing this? And I was informed that Alcoa had done a study and it had been proven it would not harm you. Don't worry about it.

CP 604.

Plaintiffs filed a Complaint against Alcoa alleging that, by intentionally exposing Mr. Kalahar to asbestos and knowingly misrepresenting its carcinogenic effect, the Defendant fell within the deliberate injury exception to workers' compensation exclusivity set forth in RCW 51.24.020. Alcoa sought summary judgment on the ground that RCW 51.24.020, as applied in *Walston v. Boeing Co.*, 181 Wn. 2d 391, precludes claims for chronic occupational diseases such as mesothelioma for which there is no 100 percent correlation between exposure and disease. The trial court agreed, reasoning as follows.

So according to *Walston*, the plaintiffs have to, in order to have an exception to the workers' comp remedy, show deliberate intention. And it is a high standard that is met in Washington only when an employer had actual knowledge that injury was certain to occur. Substantial certainty is insufficient. Negligence and gross negligen[ce] are both insufficient...

Mr. Kalahar wasn't diagnosed until 40 years he left Alcoa. And that's when he and everyone else knew that he had this disease. ... [T]his Court is obligated to follow the Supreme Court, whether it thinks it's the right decision or not. I don't see how this Court could find otherwise that Alcoa was not certain that injury was going to occur to Mr. Kalahar back in 1963 to 1971.

RP 35-36. The Court of Appeals adopted the same reasoning, holding that, "Like the expert in *Walston*, the Kalahars' expert admitted that asbestos exposure, at any level, is never certain to cause mesothelioma or any other disease. We are bound by the Supreme Court's decision in *Walston*." 2015 WL 5012588 at *3.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

The Court of Appeals erred when it interpreted this Court's decision in *Walston v. Boeing Co.*, 181 Wn. 2d 391, as precluding a diseased worker from *ever* bringing an intentional injury claim—no matter how egregious an employer's conduct—where the injury at issue is a latent occupational disease caused by asbestos exposure. 2015 WL 5012588 at *3. If the Court of Appeals' application of *Walston* and *Birklid* is correct, intentionally-inflicted occupational disease may never be the subject of an intentional injury claim under RCW 51.24.020, despite the legislative inclusion of the term "disease" for purposes of application of the "deliberate intent" exception. *See* RCW 51.24.030(3) *and* RCW 51.24.020.

Unless this Court accepts review and clarifies the law, Washington employers who deliberately coerce their employees to sustain toxic exposures will enjoy blanket immunity because of the inescapable reality that *no* disease process is ever 100 percent certain to occur. The perverse incentives of this result do not comport with

Washington's legislative and judicial policy favoring protection of workers from workplace injury and illness. *See Drinkwitz v. Alliant Techsystems, Inc.*, 140 Wn. 2d 291, 300, 996 P.2d 582, 586 (2000). This Court should accept review to correct the Court of Appeals' mistake and clarify the law consistent with the policy of Washington State.

A. The Court of Appeals' Holding Writes Occupational Disease Out of the Intentional Injury Exception.

RCW 51.24.020 sets forth the deliberate injury exception to the "grand compromise" of the workers' compensation system created by the Industrial Insurance Act:

If injury results to a worker from the deliberate intention of his or her employer to produce such injury, the worker or beneficiary of the worker shall have the privilege to take under this title and also have cause of action against the employer as if this title had not been enacted...

In tandem, RCW 51.24.030(3) defines "injury" for purposes of Chapter 51.24 as including "any physical or mental condition, *disease*, ailment or loss, including death, for which compensation and benefits are paid or payable under this title." (emphasis supplied).

The Industrial Insurance Act did not always cover "disease." Originally, RCW 51.08.100 defined "injury" narrowly and exclusively as "a sudden and tangible happening, of a traumatic nature, producing an immediate or prompt result, and occurring from without, and such physical conditions as

result therefrom." *Henson v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 15 Wn. 2d 384, 390, 130 P.2d 885, 888 (1942). *See also Dennis v. Dep't of Labor & Indus. of State of Wash.*, 109 Wn. 2d 467, 472, 745 P.2d 1295, 1298 (1987) (at the time of the IIA's enactment in 1911 there was "no coverage for disability resulting from occupational disease"). Starting in 1937, the Legislature expanded the universe of compensable "injuries" and eventually added "occupational disease," defined in RCW 51.08.140, as a basis for compensation. *Dennis*, 109 Wn. 2d at 472-74 (discussing history of occupational disease coverage in Washington).

The Legislature has generally maintained the distinction between "injury" of an abrupt onset—defined as a sudden and traumatic event—and "occupational disease," which generally occurs as the result of a long-term injurious process to the worker's body. *Compare* RCW 51.08.140 (defining "occupational disease" as "disease or infection as arises naturally and proximately out of employment") with Lehtinen v. Weyerhaeuser Co., 63 Wn. 2d 456, 458, 387 P.2d 760, 762 (1963) ("injury" "must be the product of a sudden and tangible happening...of some notoriety, fixed as to time and susceptible of investigation"). A notable exception to this framework is Chapter 51.24 RCW, the statute codifying the deliberate intent exception, where the Legislature brought together sudden and traumatic events and gradually occurring occupational diseases when it defined "injury" for

purposes of applying the "deliberate intent" exception. RCW 51.24.030 defines "injury" for purposes of RCW 51.24.020 as including *both* sudden injuries *and* "diseases," which develop over time.

In interpreting statutes, this Court must give meaning to *all* the words chosen by the Legislature and avoid strained or absurd results. *See Lowy v. Peace Health*, 174 Wn. 2d 769, 779, 280 P.3d 1078 (2012); *State Dep't of Transp. v. James River Ins. Co.*, 176 Wn. 2d 390, 397-98, 292 P.3d 118 (2013) (rejecting interpretation of statute that did not account for or explain all the words chosen by the Legislature); *American Cont'l Ins. Co. v. Steen*, 151 Wn. 2d 512, 521, 91 P.3d 864 (2004) (holding that all the words in a statute "have meaning," and "are not superfluous"). Because "injury" is defined as "disease" for purposes of application of the deliberate intent exception, and because "disease" is the compensable injury at issue in this case, RCW 51.24.020 must be read as follows:

If [disease] results to a worker from the deliberate intention of his or her employer to produce such [disease], the worker or beneficiary of the worker shall have cause of action against the employer as if this title had not been enacted...

In finding that the Kalahars had failed to satisfy the intentional injury exception, the Court of Appeals relied upon the fact that the Kalahars' experts, like the plaintiff's experts in *Walston*, "admitted that asbestos exposure, at any level, is never certain to cause mesothelioma

or any other disease." 2015 WL 5012588 at *3. The fact that not everyone who is coerced to inhale asbestos dust develops disease is equally true for any toxic insult that triggers an injurious process leading to a chronic disease. That was the case with the chemical exposures in *Birklid v*. *Boeing Co.*, 127 Wn. 2d 853, 904 P.2d 278 (1995) and in *Baker v*. *Schatz*, 80 Wn. App. 775, 912 P.2d 501 (1996). It is equally true in poisoning and irradiation cases. The Court of Appeals seized upon this inescapable reality at oral argument in asking Alcoa's counsel whether there was *any* occupational disease that was medically certain to occur:

- Q: [I]s there any occupational disease that [] a medical practitioner would testify that anyone was certain to suffer from, to [] have manifest itself?
- A: I don't know the answer to that.

- Q: So insofar as you know though, mesothelioma and any other similar disease that comes about over a long period of time and may or may not be related to a particular exposure -- or I guess -- no. They usually know that it is related to an exposure, but that may or may not occur even to someone who has been exposed. You are arguing for a rule that that is outside of *Birklid* because of a lack of certainty?
- A: Yes.

Appendix E, Transcript of Recorded Hearing (App. E) at 12-13.

If the Court of Appeals' interpretation of *Walston* is allowed to stand, an employee suffering from asbestos-related disease could *never* bring an intentional injury claim, no matter how egregious the employer's conduct. Employers who hire itinerant day laborers to strip asbestos from pipes and boilers without informing them of the hazards are subject to criminal prosecution under the Clean Air Act. Nevertheless, under the Court of Appeals' application of *Walston*, the same conduct that would send an employer to federal prison is shielded from civil liability under Washington law.

The Court of Appeals perceived the incongruity in Alcoa's proposed post-*Walston* certainty threshold when posing the following hypothetical to its counsel:

- Q: Fifteen employees working down below. Employer on the walkway blindfolded takes a gun and fires fifteen shots, kills three, wounds two, ten are missed. No certainty of injury?
- A: Under *Birklid* there is no certainty of injury.

-

¹ See, e.g., See, e.g., United States v. Rubenstein, 403 F.3d 93 (2nd Cir. 2005) (upholding conviction of employer who hired day workers to remove asbestos pipe insulation with knife and scissors and failed to tell the workers that they were removing asbestos). United States v. Starnes, 583 F.3d 196 (3rd Cir. 2009) (affirming 33-month prison sentences for employers who failed to provide their workers with any personal protective devices during asbestos abatement project and instructed workers to engage in asbestos work practices that created visible asbestos dust); United States v. Hunter, 193 F.R.D. 62 (N.D.N.Y. 2000) (defendant employed and supervised workers while they removed asbestos pipe insulation from a building, never told them their work involved asbestos and never provided them with respirators or other protection).

App. E at 15-16. The law of Washington does not countenance immunity under the circumstances of this hypothetical simply because each shot was not destined for a fatal impact and thus not "certain" to kill a specific individual. The gun fired into a crowd of people may or may not kill the first target, but it may be lethal to someone. That kind of "uncertainty" does not exempt employers under the workers' compensation law, including where the metaphorical bullet is an industrial toxin.

The fact that no disease is ever certain to occur is not a principled reason to remove disease from the Legislature's definition of "injury" codified in RCW 51.24.030(3). Mrs. Kalahar is entitled to have a jury consider the evidence—including the undisputed evidence of Alcoa's knowledge of the carcinogenic effect and other human health hazards of asbestos—to decide whether the "deliberate intent" exception applies. The Court of Appeals' erroneous interpretation of *Walston* removes occupational disease from the purview of RCW 51.24.020 in a manner that is inconsistent with *Birklid* and its progeny, and the Court should accept review to correct this error of law.

B. This Case Meets the Criteria for Accepting Review.

This case meets the criteria of RAP 13.4(b)(l), (2) and (4), any one of which compels granting review. Foremost, defining the scope of the intentional injury exception to the exclusivity of workers' compensation is a matter of "substantial public interest" touching directly upon issues of worker safety in Washington State. The Court of Appeals' interpretation of *Walston* is inconsistent with this Court's oft-expressed commitment to aggressively protecting the interests of workers so that the blood of the workman is no longer a cost of industrial production in this state. *Birklid*, 127 Wn. 2d at 874 (*quoting Stertz v. Indus. Ins. Comm'n of Washington*, 91 Wn. 588, 158 P. 256 (1916)). *See also Drikwitz*, 140 Wn. 2d at 300.

If the Court of Appeals' analysis is permitted to stand, employers will enjoy immunity when they deliberately subject their workers to toxic exposures in the hope that resultant terminal illnesses will be sufficiently attenuated to allow the employers to act in their short-term economic interest without the threat of long-term repercussions. Review is therefore necessitated under "Washington's long and proud history of being a pioneer in the protection of employee rights" and "concern for the health and welfare of Washington's workforce," which has found expression in "[n]umerous statutory priovisions" and judicial opinions

safeguarding workers from the disparate bargaining power of their employers. *Drikwitz*, 140 Wn. 2d at 300.

This Court has justifiably interpreted the "deliberate intent" exception narrowly, yet at the same time, it has affirmed that employers who engage in "egregious conduct should not burden and compromise the industrial insurance risk pool." *Birklid*, 127 Wn. 2d at 859. In *Birklid*, Boeing urged that it should remain within the protective cloak of the workers' compensation laws when it deliberately injured its workers "so long as that conduct was reasonably calculated to advance an essential business purpose." *Id.* at 862. This Court readily recognized the imprudence of such a proposed standard and rejected it.

Yet, under the Court of Appeals' analysis in this case, *Birklid* and *Walston* would be applied to limit the universe of cognizable intentional injuries to toxic exposures that cause immediate and visible, but often trivial injuries, while employers enjoy the right to pursue their "business purpose" when deliberately causing workers to suffer latent occupational disease that they know will kill some, but not all, of exposed employees. Such a perverse calculus is neither consistent with the public policy nor the law of this state. *Birklid*, 127 Wn. 2d at 874. Protecting workers from the exploitative conduct of

employers inclined to act in their short-term economic interest, where the cost of such conduct will be borne exclusively by workers suffering latent disease, implicates a substantial public interest necessitating this Court's review. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

If the Court of Appeals' decision stands, Washington employers can decide it is in their economic self-interest to deliberately force employees to sustain a toxic exposure simply because no disease, including cancer, is ever absolutely certain to occur in all exposed individuals. At oral argument, the Court of Appeals foreshadowed this untenable result, to which its application of *Walston* ineluctably leads:

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