RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Oct 29, 2015, 10:02 am BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

No. 92313-2

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

In the Supreme Court of Washington

JOHN M. KALAHAR AND PEGGY L. KALAHAR,

Petitioners,

V.

ALCOA INC.,

Respondent.

Respondent's Brief

ANS to PRU

Mark B. Tuvim WSBA No. 31909

Kevin J. Craig WSBA No. 29932

GORDON & REES LLP 701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2100 Seattle, WA 98104 SEAAsbestos@gordonrees.com (206) 695-5100

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT



FILED AS ATTACHMENT TO EMAIL

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

Argument

To reverse the Court of Appeals' judgment, the Court would have to accept the same arguments that it rejected in *Walston v. Boeing Co*, 181 Wn.2d 391, 334 P.3d 519 (2014), and overrule that year-old decision. *Walston* held that as a matter of law, an employer's knowledge that asbestos exposure can cause mesothelioma does not establish a "deliberate" injury under the Washington Industrial Insurance Act's ("WIIA") intentional-injury exception. The basis for that holding is the scientific fact that "asbestos exposure is not certain to cause

mesothelioma"—thus the employer cannot have "actual knowledge that injury was certain to occur." 181 Wn.2d at 397 (emphasis in original). Not only does Walston represent a correct application of the law, the Legislature has not amended the WIIA's intentional-injury exception in light of Walston's holding. As such, this Court should decline the Petitioners' unspoken but very obvious invitation to overrule its clear precedent in Walston interpreting the same statutory language. See Riehl, 152 Wn.2d at 147, 94 P.3d at 935.

1. Asbestos Exposure is Not Certain to Cause Disease.

Walston involved a Boeing employee who claimed to have been exposed to asbestos on the job in 1985. By then, Boeing knew asbestos was a hazardous material. *Id.* In fact, it knew of several prior claims based on asbestos exposure at the same facilities, including a co-worker who had developed cancer after working in the same shop with Mr. Walston.

Walston v. Boeing Co., 173 Wn. App. 271, 276, 294 P.3d 759 (2013).

Nonetheless, Boeing ordered the plaintiff to "go back to work," without protective gear, directly underneath where other workers, who were wearing "moon suits" and ventilators, were rewrapping overhead pipes to encapsulate flaking asbestos insulation, thereby creating dust and debris that fell into plaintiff's work area. *Walston*, 181 Wn.2d at 394. The plaintiff produced testimony from his medical experts that his exposure at

Boeing caused his mesothelioma, including Dr. Arnold Brody who opined that asbestos exposure creates an immediate injury at the cellular level.

But another of the plaintiff's experts—Dr. Andrew Churg—conceded that "asbestos exposure is not certain to cause mesothelioma or any other disease." *Id.* at 394, 398.

The plaintiff in *Walston*—represented by the same attorneys representing the Petitioners here—presented the same arguments the Petitioners have raised in this case. This Court, however, reiterated that the "deliberate intention" requirement is "a high standard that is met in Washington only when an employer had actual knowledge that an injury was certain to occur." *Id.* at 396. Substantial certainty or gross negligence is not sufficient to satisfy this standard. *Id.* at 396-97. Further, the standard is not satisfied by proof that the employer disregarded a *risk* of injury or that the employer knew that "someone, not necessarily the plaintiff" was certain to be injured. *Id.* at 397.

Applying these principles, this Court held as a matter of law that because "asbestos exposure is not certain to cause mesothelioma," an employer cannot have "actual knowledge that [the plaintiff's mesothelioma] was certain to occur." Id. at 397 (emphasis in original). The Court further rejected the plaintiff's argument that manifesting a different type of injury or symptom at the time of exposure was sufficient because it would be inconsistent with the standard developed in prior decisions requiring "certainty" that the plaintiff would later develop a disease. Walston, 181 Wn.2d at 398. Accordingly, Boeing was entitled to summary judgment because its act of intentionally exposing the plaintiff to asbestos that

Boeing knew was hazardous was not certain to cause him to contract mesothelioma. *Id.* at 398-99.

2. Walston Required the Court of Appeals to Affirm.

Just as in *Walston*, the Petitioners did not raise a question of material fact whether Alcoa "had *actual knowledge* that injury was *certain to occur*." *Walston*, 181 Wn.2d at 397 (emphasis in original). Again, as their own experts concede, it is a scientifically-established fact that asbestos exposure "is not certain to cause mesothelioma or any other disease." *Id.* And the fact that asbestos exposure poses a *risk* of disease is not sufficient to satisfy the second prong of the test enunciated in *Birklid v. Boeing Co.*, 127 Wn.2d 853, 904 P.2d 278 (1995). *Id.* Thus, even if, as the Petitioners contend, Alcoa exposed Mr. Kalahar to asbestos knowing that doing so posed a risk that he would contract mesothelioma, such exposure is not sufficient to trigger the deliberate-injury exception.

The crux of the holding in *Walston* was that even in 1985—14 years after Mr. Kalahar last worked at Alcoa—Boeing still could not *know* that the plaintiff's mesothelioma was *certain* to occur because asbestos exposure is never certain to cause mesothelioma. This Court specifically stated in *Walston* that "[a]s the experts in this case acknowledge, asbestos exposure is not certain to cause mesothelioma or any other disease" and

that the "risk" that it does cause mesothelioma "is insufficient to meet the *Birklid* standard." *Walston*, 181 Wn.2d at 397.

Here, the Petitioners used the same plaintiff's medical experts as Mr. Walston. And those experts provided the same testimony that was considered by this Court in *Walston* in concluding that "asbestos exposure is not certain to cause mesothelioma or any other disease." *Id.* at 394, 398. As in *Walston*, Dr. Churg admitted in this case as well that asbestos exposure, at any level, is never certain to cause mesothelioma or any other disease. CP 211, 214-215; *see* CP 212-213, 216-217.

In fact, the Petitioners' medical experts conceded that the overwhelming majority people who are exposed to asbestos, even those at the highest recorded occupational exposure levels, will never develop mesothelioma. CP 211-217, 223-230, 237-239. Because the Petitioners' own medical experts concede that asbestos exposure at any level is never certain to cause mesothelioma and that the contrary is "an unworkable proposition," it is a factual and legal impossibility that Alcoa had "actual knowledge" before 1971 that Mr. Kalahar's exposure to asbestos was "certain to cause" his mesothelioma four decades later. *Walston*, 181
Wn.2d at 397; CP 211, 214-215. Accordingly, *Walston* has already decided the controlling issue here and established the applicable rule: As a matter of law, the Petitioners cannot prove Alcoa knew it was certain Mr. Kalahar

would develop mesothelioma—the long-standing standard untouched by legislative amendment to avoid pre-emption of their civil claim here.

3. Walston Cannot Properly be Distinguished.

None of the arguments the Petitioners have asserted change the outcome of this case under *Walston*'s unequivocal holding based on the scientific truth that asbestos exposure is never certain to cause mesothelioma. Below, in an effort to distinguish *Walston*, the Petitioners pointed to this Court's comment that "[s]ince immediate and visible injury was not present in this case, Mr. Walston could not use that to show that Boeing had knowledge of certain injury." *Walston*, 181 Wn.2d at 397-98. In noting that comment, the Petitioners were attempting to bring their claims within the holding in *Birklid*.

In *Birklid*, employees suing for injury caused by toxic chemicals were able to raise a fact question on deliberate intent by producing evidence that they suffered immediate and visible injuries (injuries, not symptoms). *Id*. But the immediate, visible injuries in *Birklid* were dermatitis, rashes, nausea, headaches, dizziness, and workers passing out on the job—the same injuries for which the workers were seeking compensation—and the Boeing supervisor knew these injuries were reactions to working with the toxic substance. *Birklid*, 127 Wn.2d at 856, 863.

Here, the Petitioners have asserted that Mr. Kalahar sustained immediate and visible effects (not injuries) in the form of (i) an itchy, fuzzy sensation on his face, and (ii) sneezing and blowing his nose.

Neither an itchy, fuzzy sensation on Mr. Kalahar's face nor sneezing and blowing his nose may be considered a "visible injury." Nor is there is anything in the record on appeal that those are symptoms of any asbestos-related disease, or that any Alcoa supervisor knew Mr. Kalahar's alleged sneezing and other effects were reactions to asbestos exposure, much less symptoms of an asbestos-related disease.

Further, *Walston* rejected the argument that it is enough to show that the plaintiff suffered some injury (the cellular injury in *Walston*, Mr. Kalahar's alleged sneezing and irritated skin here), even though it was a different injury than the mesothelioma on which they base their claims. Developing a different type of injury or symptom at the time of exposure did not create "certainty" that the plaintiff would later develop mesothelioma. 181 Wn.2d at 398. The Court further observed that the alleged "cellular-level injury here is not itself a compensable injury" because a compensable injury under the WIIA arises only when the disease manifests, not when exposure occurred. *Id.* (citing *Dep't of Labor & Indus. v. Landon*, 117 Wn.2d 122, 125-28, 814 P.2d 626 (1991)).

This is consistent with the plain statutory language that the deliberate-injury exception applies only "[i]f injury results to a worker from the deliberate intention of his or her employer to produce *such* injury." RCW 51.24.020 (emphasis added). In other words, the exception only applies if the employee suffers the same injury that the employer intended to cause. Here, the only injury alleged in the Complaint is Mr. Kalahar's mesothelioma, which was not diagnosed until 2014. CP 141, 336. Mr. Kalahar therefore did not have a compensable injury until 2014. *See Walston*, 181 Wn.2d at 398. An asbestos-related occupational disease becomes a compensable injury under the WIIA "as of the date the worker's disease manifested itself, not the date of the worker's last exposure to the harmful materials." *Landon*, 117 Wn.2d at 123-25.

Just as this Court rejected the plaintiff's argument in *Walston* that the employer's knowledge that asbestos exposure was causing cellular injury was sufficient to establish "certainty" about Mr. Walston's mesothelioma, any knowledge that Alcoa may have had that Mr. Kalahar was sneezing or had irritated skin, even if related to asbestos exposure, does not create the required "certainty" that his mesothelioma would occur. *Walston*, 181 Wn.2d at 398.

Further, while the Petitioners have insisted that Alcoa knew asbestos was dangerous and that exposure could potentially cause an injury to Mr.

Kalahar, those arguments are simply a rehash of the "substantial certainty" argument this Court expressly rejected in both *Walston* and *Birklid*. *Walston*, 181 Wn.2d at 396-97; *Birklid*, 127 Wn.2d at 865. Under Washington law, "[d]isregard of a *risk* of injury is not sufficient to meet [*Birklid*]; *certainty* of actual harm must be known and ignored." *Vallandigham v. Clover Park Sch. Dist. No. 400*, 154 Wn.2d 16, 28, 109

P.3d 805 (2005) (emphasis in original). There is no evidence Alcoa had actual knowledge that asbestos exposure was certain to cause Mr.

Kalahar's mesothelioma. The Petitioners' own experts concede that Mr.

Kalahar's mesothelioma was not certain to occur at any level of exposure.

The Petitioners have focused their arguments on the employer's alleged intention to perform a dangerous act (or to misrepresent the dangerousness of an activity) rather than the deliberate intention to cause the injury at issue. Their arguments are wholly misplaced because as this Court has explained in applying the deliberate-injury exception, "the required intention relates to the injury, not the act causing the injury."

Foster v. Allsop Automatic, Inc., 86 Wn.2d 579, 580, 584, 547 P.2d 856 (1976). In Foster, the Court held that the "deliberate intention" exception did not apply as a matter of law to a case where the plaintiff injured his hand in a press after the employer had knowingly disabled a safety device because they did not show that the employer intended to cause the injury

that the plaintiff ultimately suffered. *Id.* Thus, contrary to the Petitioners' arguments, it is the actual knowledge of certain injury – not intent to perform a dangerous act – which determines whether the deliberate-injury exception applies.

4. The Petitioners Seek to Re-Write the WIIA.

The Petitioners' argument that the Court of Appeals' ruling removes occupational disease claims from the intentional-injury exception has no basis in either fact or law. They are attempting to modify the statutory definitions in the WIIA to somehow avoid the necessity to prove Alcoa's actual knowledge—in the 1963-1971 timeframe when Mr. Kalahar worked there—that his mesothelioma was certain to occur at some point in the future. The Petitioners offer their own definition of "disease" inconsistent with the WIIA's express terms. The general definitions for the WIIA define "injury" as follows:

"Injury" means a sudden and tangible happening, of a traumatic nature, producing an immediate or prompt result, and occurring from without, and such physical conditions as result therefrom.

RCW 51.08.100.

The chapter governing the deliberate-injury exception does not redefine "injury," but merely provides that "injury" includes any qualifying disease for which compensation and benefits are payable: For the purposes of this chapter, "injury" shall include any physical or mental condition, disease, ailment or loss, including death, for which compensation and benefits are paid or payable under this title.

RCW 51.24.030(3).

Nothing in the WIIA indicates that the Legislature intended to treat a disease—even an occupational disease such as mesothelioma—differently from any other injury for purposes of the deliberate-injury exception simply because of its potential latency. And nothing in *Walston* or any other case precludes a court from applying the deliberate-injury exception to other occupational diseases that do satisfy the statutory terms. *Birklid*, for example, held that the deliberate-injury exception applied to the occupational disease caused by chemical exposure. Actual knowledge of certainty of injury was established because the company did nothing after the workers exposed to the chemical became ill.

The Petitioners' failure in this case to demonstrate Alcoa's knowledge that it was certain Mr. Kalahar would develop mesothelioma in no way prevents plaintiffs with other diseases from producing the required evidence that their employers had actual knowledge that their diseases were certain occur. But even if that were the case, it would be the result of the WIIA's plain language. Revising that language is a matter for the Legislature because this Court does not "rewrite [the law] to insert our

own policy judgments." *State v. Peeler*, 183 Wn.2d 169, 185, 349 P.3d 842, 850 (2015) (brackets original; internal quotation marks omitted).

5. The Legislature Has Provided the Petitioners a Remedy.

Finally, the Petitioners fail to acknowledge that they have a readily-available remedy in a workers compensation system that requires no proof of fault. RCW 51.04.010. The WIIA was "the product of a grand compromise" that gave employers "immunity from civil suits by workers" in exchange for giving injured workers "a swift, nofault compensation system for injuries on the job." *Birklid*, 127 Wn. 2d at 859. Long ago, the Legislature decided that it was in the best interests of this State to provide an exclusive remedy for workplace injuries in which workers received benefits without regard to the employer's or the worker's fault in exchange for foregoing unlimited potential damages.

The Legislature further decided that the employers would primarily fund the costs of this industrial insurance program. As a result, workers who sustain injuries or develop occupational disease are entitled to substantial benefits, including payment of their medical expenses and lost wages, vocational rehabilitation, awards for permanent full or partial disabilities, and even death benefits. RCW 51.36.010; RCW 51.32.050-.095. The injured worker receives full benefits even if the employer was not at fault or the worker was at fault. "The wisdom of that decision is not

a proper subject of [judicial] review." Seattle First Nat'l Bank v. Shoreline Concrete Co., 91 Wn.2d 230, 242, 588 P.2d 1308 (1978).

The Court should respect the Legislature's "grand compromise" by denying the petition for review while leaving the Petitioners free to recover their substantial benefits under the workers compensation system.

6. Alcoa is Entitled to Judgment Under the Second Prong of the *Birklid* Test.

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